IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant

v.

CHARLES HOGAN,

Appellee.

Case No. 96,588

* *

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BASED ON CONFLICT

**

REFILE OF INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #656879

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0393665 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 688-7759 Counsel for Respondent

CASE NO.: 96,588 STATE OF FLORIDA V. CHARLES HOGAN

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the prosecution and respondent was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court, except that the Petitioner may also be referred to as "State" or "Prosecution."

The following symbols will be used;

T = Transcript of trial

R= Record on Appeal

eme Court/11-09-00/96588ini.wpd

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information with burglary of a dwelling (two counts) in violation of Section 810.02(1) and (3)(b)(1997), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>. R 6-7. The respondent proceeded to trial and was found guilty as charged and sentenced to eight years as a habitual offender in Florida State Prison (R 21-22,24-25,33-40; T 479-485).

The following is a summary of the trial testimony:

Abraham Ferris testified that he has owned the house at 1160 Northeast 4th 1. Street in Pompano Beach for about 28 years. T/146. in the last year he has not occupied the house. T/146. On February 28, 1998 he found that his jealousies have been removed and the screen broken. T/147. Inside the house was a wreck with clothes thrown all over the place, windows broken, his coin collection taken (silver dollars, Buffalo head and Indian head coins, Kennedy half dollars), and the television was gone. T/152-154. Someone had been using the couch. T/166. Six blankets were all over the house as if some one was using them. T/167. Pots and pans were laying dirty in the kitchen and were burnt. T/168,169. An empty rice bag was on the counter near the sink. T/168. There was a Pepsi six-pack box in the kitchen that was not his. T/169. There was a hot plate on the stove that had been used. T/169-170. Mr. Ferris testified that he never gave any one permission to stay in his house or use his house or take care of his house. T/170. When he was in the house the last time, Mr. Ferris testified that he made sure the front

door was locked. T/174.

Mr. Ferris testified that the coins were kept in a can in a cabinet. T/175.

2. Emmett Collins testified that he lives across the street from Mr. Ferris' house. T/177. On February 28, 1998 he saw police at Mr. Ferris' house. T/177-178. He agreed to watch Mr. Ferris' house. T/179. The next day he saw the respondent enter Mr. Ferris' house. T/180. The respondent was not using crutches. T/186. He immediately called the police. T/180 The police responded within three minutes. T/181. The police surrounded the house. T/182. The police arrested the respondent, whom he saw go into Mr. Ferris' house. T/182-183. The respondent was not on crutches. T/186.

Before March 1st Mr. Collins only observed Mr. Ferris enter his house, no one else. T/187. IN fact, he saw Mr. Ferris enter his house about a week to four weeks before February 28, 1998. T/189-190.

3. Officer Wright testified that he answered the dispatch to Mr. Ferris' house. T/192. Mr. Ferris showed Officer Wright the back window of his house, where the jealousies were missing and the screen was broken. T/193. Inside the house some of the drawer in the rooms were open and clothing was thrown around the rooms. T/193.

The following day he responded to Mr. Collin's call. T/195. He observed the jealousies and the screen in the back had been moved from the position he observed them in the day before. T/195-196. Respondent came out of the bedroom area. T/196.

C:\Supreme Court\11-09-00\96588ini.wpd ___ 2__

Respondent said something to the effect "Uh-ho, it's the cops." T/196. Officer Wright ordered respondent out through the window. T/196. Respondent crawled out through the window and the police patted him down T/197. When Officer Wright arrived he noticed that the front door was locked. T/197. Respondent was walking with crutches but he could walk without the crutches. T/198.

Officer Wright told the respondent that the police were dispatched there because somebody had broken into the house. T/199. Respondent said that he had permission to go into the house from the owner. T/199. Respondent said he knew the person that lives there. T/218. Respondent gave Officer Wright a name but it was not Mr. Ferris' name. T/199,218. Officer Wright said that was not the owner of the house. T/201. Respondent did not say anything after that. T/201. Found in Respondent's fanny pack was mail addressed to the resident of Mr. Ferris' house. T/203. There was lot of other mail addressed to that address in the house in the house. T/227. Some of this mail was addressed to Mr. Ferris. T/227.

4. Monica Datz testified that she's an identification technician and latent prints examiner for the City of Pompano Beach Police Department. T/230. When she reached Mr. Ferris' house she noted that the window with jealousies had been removed and the screen was bent. T/231. Drawers were in the partially open position. Doors on cabinets were partially open. T/231. The front door was not tampered with nor any other window

in the house. T/234.

Datz lifted respondent's latent print from the exterior bottom side of the metal box which was on the floor in the northeast bedroom. T/236,274. Respondent's left middle finger and left ring finger were identified. T/275.

5. Respondent testified that he was homeless and got his meals at St. Lawrence Chapel. T/356. He met Ted Hanson at St. Lawrence Chapel. T/356. Respondent testified that Ted Hanson told him that he (Ted Hanson) had permission to be in the house at 1160 Northeast 4th Street in Pompano. T/357. Respondent went to the house by himself. T/357. The first time he went there was February 28th, the day he was arrested. T/357. The first time he went through the side door. T/357. The side door was not locked. T/358. The house was dirty with no running water and human waste in the toilet. T/358. Respondent testified that he did not see a television, a telephone or any coins. T/359. He did not steal anything out of the house. T/359. On the 28th he went in and out of the house three times. T/359. He spent the night of February 28th at Mr. Ferris' house with Ted Hanson. T/360. When he was arrested, respondent testified that he told the police that Ted Hanson gave him permission to be in the house. T/361.

On cross examination, respondent testified that he met Ted Hanson at St. Lawrence Chapel at Atlantic Boulevard. T/362. The following occurred:

State: Do you know where Ted Hanson is?

C:\Supreme Court\11-09-00\96588ini.wpd = 4 =

Defendant: No.

State: When is the last time you saw him?

Defendant: Sunday morning.

State: Sunday morning the 3rd -- the 1st?

Defendant: Yes.

State: Well, he wasn't there when you got arrested,

was he?

Defendant: No.

State: Okay. So he left?

Defendant: Yes.

State: And you never saw him again?

Defendant: No. We both went to St. Lawrence Chapel

together.

State: And Ted Hanson is not here to testify to ---

Defendant: No.

T/362-363. Respondent testified that Ted Hanson told him that Abraham Ferris gave him permission to be there and now he, Ted Hanson, was giving respondent permission to be there. T/364. That caused bells to go off in respondent's head. T/365. Ted Hanson did not give respondent a key to the house. T/366-367. So he went through the side door, which was open. T/367. Respondent did see that the jealousies had been removed. T/367. The envelope found in his fanny pack was given to respondent by Ted Hanson.

C:\Supreme Court\11-09-00\96588ini.wpd = 5 =

T/373.

Respondent testified that he had been convicted four times of a felony. T371. Respondent testified that he did not take any coins, microwave, television, clothes, nothing. T/374. The house did not appear to have been broken into or burglarized. T/374.

6. Defense attorney argued to the jury that the State could not prove the second element of burglary that requires the jury to find that respondent did not have permission or consent of Mr. Ferris or anyone authorized to act for him to enter or remain in the structure at the time. T/408. The reason is that respondent got permission from Ted Hanson. T/409,413,416. Defense attorney noted that Ted Hanson did not testify. T/416. Again, defense attorney told the jury that he had a good faith belief that he had lawful permission to enter into and remain at the house of 1160 Northeast 4th Street, Pompano Beach. T/416-417. Ted Hanson gave him permission to be there. T/418-419.

The prosecutor then argued to the jury:

If he's supposedly got permission from this Ted Hanson, who I submit to you does not exist, is a ghost, is a figment the defendant's imagination, if he's just going there for shelter to sleep on the couch, what is he doing going into the bedroom into the can where the money was?

T/424. Later the prosecutor told the jury, "WE have someone who is telling you that there is an imaginary Ted Hanson. There is no Ted Hanson. And if there is, it is a Ted

C:\Supreme Court\11-09-00\96588ini.wpd — 6 —

Hanson who knows nothing about 1160 Northeast 4th Street in Pompano." T/428. Two other times the prosecutor referred to Ted Hanson as a ghost. T/434,439.

On rebuttal, defense attorney again reminded the jury that respondent had a good faith belief that he had lawful permission to enter into the house, therefore, he cannot be guilty of burglary. T/444.

7. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that these comments by the prosecutor impermissively shift the burden of proof: We agree and reverse because the comments could have caused the jury to erroneously believe that the appellant had the burden of proving his innocence."

Judge Stone concurred but stated that he would agree with Judge Hersey's dissent in <u>Lawyer</u> and would follow <u>Highsmith</u>, "particularly where the defendant has raised for the first time in trial a theory of defense supportable only by a phantom witness and the state's comments are directed at the absent witness and not directly asserting the defendant has a burden of proof."

The Fourth District Court certified conflict with <u>Highsmith v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and <u>McDonald v. State</u> 578 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

C:|Supreme Court|11-09-00|96588ini.wpd

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

Respondent testified at trial that Ted Hanson gave him permission to enter and stay in Mr. Ferris' house; thus, presenting, for the first time at trial, exculpatory evidence to refute an element of the crime of burglary. The prosecutors comments during cross-examination and closing arguments that Ted Hanson is a "ghost" or a figment of respondent's imagination is not a comment which would lead the jury to believe that the defendant carried the burden of introducing evidence. Rather it if a comment on the state of the evidence or on respondent's failure to support his own factual theories with witnesses. Moreover, the challenged statement, when considered in context, would not have been understood by a reasonable jury as anything more than an argument that the jury need not believe uncorroborated defense theories.

Furthermore, Ted Hanson is not equally accessible to the State as he was to the respondent. Respondent first mentioned Ted Hanson's name at trial. Only the respondent had knowledge of the existence, identity, location, and expected testimony of Ted Hanson. A witness can only be "equally available" if both parties are equally aware that the individual has witnessed some fact or event relevant to the issues in the case and of the possibility that the defense may bring this to the attention of the fact-finder. Since Ted Hanson was not equally available to the State, the prosecutor did not impermissibly comment on respondent's failure to call a witness.

ARGUMENT

THE PROSECUTOR IS PERMITTED TO COMMENT ON THE DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO PRODUCE EVIDENCE TO REFUTE AN ELEMENT OF THE CRIME WHERE AN EXCULPATORY DEFENSE HAS BEEN ASSERTED FOR THE FIRST TIME AT TRIAL BY THE DEFENDANT

Respondent testified on his own behalf and asserted the defense of consent to the charge of burglary. Specifically respondent testified that a man he ate breakfast with at St. Lawrence Chapel gave him permission to enter and remain in the dwelling belonging to Mr. Ferris. T/356-357. On cross examination, respondent testified that he met Ted Hanson at St. Lawrence Chapel at Atlantic Boulevard. T/362. The following occurred:

State: Do you know where Ted Hanson is?

Defendant: No.

State: When is the last time you saw him?

Defendant: Sunday morning.

State: Sunday morning the 3rd -- the 1st?

Defendant: Yes.

State: Well, he wasn't there when you got arrested,

was he?

Defendant: No.

State: Okay. So he left?

Defendant: Yes.

State: And you never saw him again?

Defendant: No. We both went to St. Lawrence Chapel

together.

State: And Ted Hanson is not here to testify to ---

Defendant: No.

T/362-363.

During closing argument, Defense attorney argued to the jury that the State could not prove the second element of burglary that requires the jury to find that respondent did not have permission or consent of Mr. Ferris or anyone authorized to act for him to enter or remain in the structure at the time. T/408. The reason is that respondent received permission from Ted Hanson. T/409,413,416. Defense attorney noted that Ted Hanson did not testify. T/416.

In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued to the jury on the state of the evidence as represented by respondent's testimony:

If he's supposedly got permission from this Ted Hanson, who I submit to you does not exist, is a ghost, is a figment the defendant's imagination, if he's just going there for shelter to sleep on the couch, what is he doing going into the bedroom into the can where the money was?

T/424. Later the prosecutor told the jury, "We have someone who is telling you that there is an imaginary Ted Hanson. There is no Ted Hanson. And if there is, it is a Ted

Hanson who knows nothing about 1160 Northeast 4th Street in Pompano." T/428. Two other times the prosecutor referred to Ted Hanson as a ghost. T/434,439.

In Respondent's rebuttal argument to the jury, defense counsel again told the jury that the respondent had a good faith belief that he had lawful permission to enter into the house, therefore, he cannot be guilty of burglary. T/444.

Generally, it is true that the State prosecutor cannot comment on a defendant's failure to produce evidence to refute an element of the crime, because doing so could erroneously lead the jury to believe that the defendant carried the burden of introducing evidence. However, this Court has applied some exceptions to this rule where the defendant has assumed some burden of proof. Those exceptions in Florida have been limited to those instances where the defendant asserts the defense of (1) alibi, (2) selfdefense, (3) defense of others, or (4) relies on facts that could be elicited only from a witness who is not equally available to the State. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 181, 188 (Fla. 1991); See also, Buckrem v. State, 355 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1978) (alibi); State v. Michaels, 454 So. 2d 560 (Fla 1984) (self-defense and defense of others). In the instant case, the Fourth District Court held that the trial court erred in allowing the state to comment on the fact that a person who allegedly gave respondent permission to be in the dwelling was not called to testify. The State first maintains that, under the Jackson analogy, the respondent was relying on facts that could be elicited

only from a witness who was not equally available to the State. A witness is not equally available to the State when that witness is first mentioned at trial by the defense and only the defense has knowledge of the existance, identity, location, and expect testimony of a defense witness, which allegedly exonerates the defendant. Ted Hanson, *sub judice*, was not equally available to the State. Secondly, the State contends that the prosecutor did not impermissibly comment on the respondent's failure to call a witness. *Sub judice*, the prosecutor was commenting on the state of the evidence and on the respondent's failure to support his own factual theory with the witness respondent **first** mentioned at trial; especially, where respondent argues to the jury that Ted Hanson's permission refutes an element of the crime charged.

Under <u>Jackson</u>, this Court has held improper for a prosecutor to comment on a criminal defendant's failure to call a witness unless the prosecutor shows that the witness is an alibi witness or that he is not equally available to both parties. The Fourth District Court in <u>Thomas</u> interpreted <u>Jackson</u> to mean:

We concluded in *Lawyer*, that *Jackson* recognized "that the rule in this state is that the prosecution can comment on a defendant's failure to produce a witness only if: (1) the defense puts on evidence of defenses such as alibi or self-defense which reflects the existence of a witness who could give relevant testimony and, (2) that witness has a special relationship with the defendant." *Lawyer* at 567. We then interpreted the *Jackson* language "as eliminating any arguable distinction between a witness classified as 'not equally

available' to the defendant and a witness who has a 'special relationship' with the defendant. They are simply different ways of saying the same thing." *Id*.

The Fourth District Court expounded further in the instant case by holding that "not equally available" not only means that there is a special relationship between the defendant and the witness but also that the witness would have been expected to testify favorably for the defendant. In other words, if the relationship of the witness to the defendant would reasonably lead one to expect the witness to testify in favor of the defendant, the court cannot hold the witness equally available. In a number of other jurisdictions, a prosecutor is allowed to invite the jury to draw an adverse inference from the failure to call available defense witnesses who could corroborate defendant's testimony relating to the offense charge, unless the prosecutor's comment uses defendant's privilege against compulsory self-incrimination as evidence against him. State v. Dudley, 809 S.W. 2d 40 (MO.App., Western Dist. 1991) (If the facts make clear that the witness' testimony would favor the defendant, the court may justifiably find the witness one "peculiarly available" to the defendant, thus giving rise to the adverse inference.); United States v. Bubar, 567 F.2d 192, 199 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 872, 98 S.Ct. 217, 54 L.Ed.2d 151 (1977); People v. Durden, 211 A.D. 2d 568, 621 N.Y.S.2d 611 (N.Y.App.Div., 1st Dept. 1995)(Prosecutor was entitled to comment in summation in robbery prosecution on defendant's failure to call witnesses who, according

to defendant's testimony, were friends of his who could corroborate his claim of innocent presence at the scene.); People v. Najera, 88 Cal.App.3d 930, 152 Cal.Rptr. 124 (CA.App., 2nd Dist., Div.5 1979) (In prosecution for burglary, it was proper for prosecutor to comment upon defendant's failure to call witnesses who could have corroborated defendant's alibi testimony -- a cousin, cousin's girlfriend, and an acquaintance); People v. Smith, 166 A.D.2d 385, 561 N.Y.S.2d 189 (N.Y. App.Div., 1st Dept. 1990) (Upon burglary defendant's election to introduce affirmative exculpatory evidence to effect that he was innocently visiting friend in building, defendant's failure to call that material witness was properly placed before the jury.)

As an application of this doctrine, the courts have held in a number of cases that counsel for the state may properly comment on the failure of the accused to adduce testimony of witnesses other than himself who are more likely to be known to him than to the prosecution. For example, in People v. Melton, 232 Ill.App.3d 858, 596 N.E. 2d 1246, 173 Ill.Dec. 367 (Ill. 4th DCA 1992) the

State could properly comment on failure of burglary defendant to produce as witness person from whom defendant claimed he bought the stolen goods. The <u>Melton</u> court held that the state did not have equal opportunity to call the witness, as only defendant knew details of his possible whereabouts. In <u>United States v. Dahdah</u>, 864 F.2d 55 (7th Cir. 1988) the defendant did not identify two witnesses, whom she said would give

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