IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)			
)			
Petitioner,)			
)	S.Ct. Case	e No.	SC96588
VS.)			
)			
CHARLES HOGAN,)			
)			
Respondent.)			
)			

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

MAXINE WILLIAMS
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 001759
Attorney for Charles Hogan
The Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street, 6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant and Petitioner was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

T = Transcript on Appeal

PB = Petitioner's Brief.

CERTIFICATION OF TYPE FACE

In accordance with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for Respondent hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that has 10 characters per inch.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts for the purposes of this appeal subject to the additions and clarifications set forth in the argument portion of this brief, which are necessary to resolve the legal issues presented on appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court improperly certified conflict between its decision here and two decisions from the First District. The cases bear little legal or factual resemblance to the instant case.

The prosecutor improperly suggested Respondent should not be believed because he failed to call a potential witness. The prosecutor had made no showing that this potential witness was available to be called nor that the witness was "not equally available" to the state or had a "special relationship" with the Respondent. Generally such witnesses are persons with a close relationship with one side or the other. The Fourth District correctly applied that rule to this case and found the comment improper because there was no special relationship between Respondent and the witness, "Ted Hanson"; "Ted Hanson" was not particularly within Respondent's power to produce.

Furthermore, the state incorrectly suggested that the missing witness was more available to the Respondent because only the Respondent knew of Ted Hanson's identity, location and expected testimony. However, record shows that the state had notice of appellant's claim that he was given permission to stay in the house and the opportunity to seek Ted Hanson as a rebuttal witness if necessary.

Finally, contrary to the state's arguments, this case does not involve the issue of commentary on silence and the Respondent did not open the door to the state's comments.

The district court's decision must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY REVERSED RESPONDENT'S CONVICTION BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS ON RESPONDENT'S FAILURE TO CALL WITNESSES WERE COMPLETELY IMPROPER.

<u>Jurisdiction</u>

The district court has certified conflict between its decision here and two decisions from the First District, <u>Highsmith v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 589 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1991), and <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 578 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>rev. denied</u> 587 So. 2d 1328 (Fla. 1991). <u>Hogan v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2027 (Fla. 4th DCA Sep. 1, 1999).

The Florida Constitution grants this Court jurisdiction to review decisions which "expressly and directly conflict" with decisions from other district courts or which are "certified . . . to be in direct conflict . . . " Art. V, sec. 3(b)(3) and (4), Fla. Const. That grant of jurisdiction requires that there be an actual "direct conflict," regardless of certification of one, before any discretion can be exercised in favor of review. See Bailey v. Hough, 441 So. 2d 614 (Fla. 1983) (jurisdiction accepted based on certified conflict dismissed where case cited was receded from). This Court has defined direct conflict as limited to those decisions which speak to the same point of law in a factual context sufficiently similar to permit the inference that the result in

each case would have been different had the deciding court employed the reasoning of the other. <u>See Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1975); <u>Dept. of Revenue v. Johnston</u>, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Despite the certification by the district court, neither <u>Highsmith</u> nor <u>McDonald</u> actually meet that definition for direct conflict. None exists.

First, McDonald bears little factual or legal resemblance to the instant case. There, a defendant forced his way into a woman's apartment and sexually battered her. Her young child was asleep somewhere in the apartment. The defense was consent. In closing, the defense, argued that the state failed to call the child, suggesting, contrary to evidence presented, that it was "entirely possible the child saw the whole thing." Only then did the state comment that the defense had equal subpoena power to call the child if the child would have been helpful. 578 So. 2d at 373. Clearly, McDonald involved an issue of fair reply, an issue which involves a different rule of law. 578 So. 2d at 374. In the instant case, the state argued in closing the jury could base its conclusions not on the evidence but on the inferences drawn from Respondent's failure to call a witness who gave him consent to be in the house. That comment was not a fair reply to anything, as defense counsel made no argument that the state had failed to call witnesses.

Because the facts in <u>McDonald</u> were significantly different from the facts here, the applicable rules are different; there is therefore no basis on which to conclude these cases are either irreconcilable or in direct conflict.

Second, the Fourth District's decision sub judice repeats the general rule that the state may comment on a missing defense witness whom the defense claims could exonerate him when, because of the witness's relationship to the defendant, it is particularly within a defendant's power to produce that witness. Hogan v. State, Fla. L. Weekly at D2027. This conclusion presupposes that the potential witness is fact available, i.e., could be found. Romero v. State, 435 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Although Highsmith applied this same rule, it came to the opposite conclusion because the facts were different; there the witnesses were particularly within the defendant's power to produce; i.e., had a special relationship with the defendant. They were his cousin and friend. The same can hardly be said for "Ted Hanson," a person Respondent only met the day before his arrest at a place where the homeless take their meals. Additionally, Respondent testified that he did not know of Hanson's whereabouts since had not seen him since the day of his [Respondent's]arrest. These facts are simply not sufficiently similar so as to permit any inference about how either

court might have decided the other case. Despite the certification, the state has failed to show an actual direct conflict exists between the First and Fourth Districts. No jurisdiction exists to review the instant case; review must therefore be denied.

<u>Merits</u>

In the instant case, Respondent testified that he was given permission by Ted Hanson, a man he met the day before his arrest, to be in the house he was charged with burglarizing. (T 356-357, 360-362). At the time, Respondent was homeless and had been sleeping in a bus when he met Ted Hanson at a Chapel where he gets his meals. (T 356-357). Ted Hanson did not testify and the Respondent testified that he did not know where Ted Hanson was as he had not seen him since the day of his arrest. (T 363). closing, Respondent's counsel argued that the state could not prove the second element of burglary that requires the jury to find that respondent did not have permission or consent of the owner (Mr. Ferris) or anyone authorized to act for him to enter or remain in the structure. (T 416-417). This is because Respondent had a good faith belief that he had permission to be there from Ted Hanson. (T 416-417)

In rebuttal and during cross examination, the prosecutor made

numerous improper comments on Respondent's failure to produce Hanson as a witness. (T 363, 424, 428, 434, 439). During the cross examination the state commented, over defense objection, that "Ted Hanson was not here to testify". (T 363). The state made the following comments during closing:

- (1) "If he supposedly got permission from this Ted Hanson, who I submit to you does not exist, is a ghost, is a figment of the defendant's imagination, . . . "(T 424, Lines 22-25).
- (2) "We have someone who is telling you there is an imaginary Ted Hanson. There is no Ted Hanson. And if there is, it is a Ted Hanson who knows nothing about 1160 Northeast 4th Street in Pompano."(T 428, Lines 3-7).
- (3) "Mr. Ferris, did you ever give permission to Mr. Hogan or to anyone, to Ted Hanson or Ted Danson, the ghost, did you ever give him permission to enter the house?" (T 434, Lines 21-24).
- (4) "We have this, you know, figment of his imagination, Ted Hanson, ..." (T 439, Lines 14-15).

The law is well settled that it is never the duty of a defendant to establish his innocence. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 90 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1956); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 1991)(Due Process requires the state to prove all elements of the crime and the defendant has no obligation to present witnesses; <u>Romero v.</u>

State, 435 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Crowley v. State, 558
So. 2d 529 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

When a prosecutor refers to a defendant's failure to call witnesses, it may mislead the jury to believe that the defendant has the burden of introducing evidence.

<u>Lawyer v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 564 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)citing <u>Jackson</u> v. <u>State</u>, 575 So. 2d at 188.

This Court in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, has applied a narrow exception to permit comment

"when the defendant voluntarily assumes some burden of proof by asserting the defense of alibi, self-defense, and defense of others, relying on facts that could be elicited only from a witness who is not equally available to the state. A witness is not equally available when there is a special relationship between the defendant and the witness."

Jackson, 575 So. 2d at 188.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals interpreted this language in <u>Jackson</u> "as eliminating any arguable distinction between a witness classified as 'not equally available' to the defendant and a witness who has a 'special relationship' with the defendant. They are simply different ways of saying the same thing." <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D351 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 3, 1999, on motion for rehearing)citing <u>Lawyer v. State</u>, 627 So. 2d 564, 567 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

In addition to the rule in Jackson, it still stands that the "an inference adverse to the defendant is permitted only when it is shown that the witnesses are peculiarly within the defendant's power to produce and the testimony of the witnesses would elucidate the transaction, that is, that the witnesses are both available and competent." Kindell v. State, 413 So. 2d 1283, 1288 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (Pearson, J. concurring)(emphasis added) <u>disapproved on</u> other grounds, Reynolds v. State, 452 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). The flip-side of the rule is that no inference can be drawn from either party's failure to call witnesses who are equally available to both parties. Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1990), citing Martinez v. State, 478 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), rev. denied 488 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1986). "[W]hether a person is to be regarded as peculiarly within the control of one party may depend as much as on his relationship to that party as on his physical availability." Martinez, 478 So. 2d at 872 citing United States v. Blakemore, 489 F. 2d 193, 195 (6th Cir. 1973). [Emphasis added].

Petitioner first asserts that Ted Hanson was not equally available to the State since Respondent had a special relationship with Ted Hanson. This is plainly not so.

As the Hogan court recognized, Ted Hanson did not have a

"special relationship" to Respondent because it was not a relationship where Hanson would have been expected to testify favorably for Respondent. Here, the day before his arrest for burglary Respondent met a homeless person named Ted Hanson at a church where respondent gets his meals. (T 356-357). Ted Hanson told respondent that he was staying at an unoccupied house which he had permission to be in, and that Respondent could stay there as well. (T 357). Respondent went to the house, entered and stayed overnight. (T 357-358). He was found there the next day by the police who had been alerted by a neighbor. (T 360). Respondent testified that he had not seen Ted Hanson since the day of his arrest. (T 363).

A witness in a "special relationship" with the defendant or "not equally available" to the state has been construed to mean witnesses who were in relationships with the defendant so that they would have been expected to testify favorably for him. In <u>Buckrem v. State</u>, 355 So. 2d 111, 112 (Fla. 1984), the defendant had an alibi defense and stated that at the time of the crime (murder) he was with his wife at a friend's house. The Court found the State did not err in commenting on the defendant's failure to call the friend and his wife to support his alibi defense.

Likewise, in Michaels v. State, 454 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1994),

the defendant claimed self-defense and defense of others but did not call his daughter, "who had been at the center of the dispute and was critical to the asserted theories of defense," as a witness. The Court held that the State was allowed to comment on the defendant's failure to produce the daughter as a witness. The daughter "was not equally available" to the State because the parent-child relationship would normally bias her toward supporting her father's defenses. [Emphasis added]. See also, Romero, 435 So. at 319 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)(comment allowed when defense failed to call his girlfriend's family); Jenkins v. State, 317 So. 2d 90, 91 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975)(comment allowed where defense failed to call common law wife).

At bar, the Fourth District followed this line of cases and stated:

"Thus, in all of the supreme court cases, Michaels, Buckrem and Jackson, the witnesses were in relationships with the defendant so that they would have been expected to testify favorably for him. We conclude that this is a necessary requirement, in order for the state to comment, . . . ".

<u>Hogan v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D2027. Unlike in <u>Buckrem</u> and <u>Michaels</u>, and <u>Jackson</u>, where the missing witness was the defendant's mother, Ted Hanson was neither a family member nor a friend of Respondent. <u>See also</u>, <u>Highsmith v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 234

(Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(failure to call friend and cousin).

Respondent's "relationship" to Ted Hanson is more like that in Lawyer v. State, supra and Thomas v. State, supra. In Lawyer, the defendant was charged with a robbery. At trial he testified that he had been working at a restaurant until 2:30 A.M. and was given a ride home by the manager. The trial court, over defense objection, permitted the state to comment that the defendant had not produced any witnesses to support his alibi. The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed for a new trial, concluding that the manager of defendant's former place of employment was not in a special relationship with the defendant so as to permit the state to comment.

Likewise, in <u>Thomas</u>, the defendant was convicted of tampering with evidence by swallowing a substance that appeared to be rock cocaine. The car defendant was driving was stopped in the middle of the road with its lights off and engine running in an area known for drug activity. The sole witness for the defendant, his girlfriend, testified that they were in the area because a busboy she worked with, whose name she did not know, asked her for a ride home. The whereabouts of the busboy was unknown at the time of the trial. Over defense objection, the prosecutor was permitted to comment on defendant's failure to call the busboy as a witness.

The district court recognized that like the manager in <u>Lawyer</u>, the busboy had no special relationship to the defendant and found that the state's comment was impermissible. However, the conviction was affirmed because immediately following the State's comment, the trial court gave a curative instruction. No curative instruction was offered at bar. See also, <u>Davis v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2278, (Fla. 5th DCA Oct. 1, 1999)(state's questions and comments during cross examination of defendant regarding her failure to call manager, who employed her, to support alibi defense was held to be reversible error).

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